





EDITORIAL

With No, 17 of the Devon Historian Sheila Stirling will be the new Editor. After
eight years and sixteen issues a change is appropriate. In Devon Historian No. |
certain aims for the Standing Conference and the magazine were set out. The
overriding one was *to further the study of Local History ir the County’. More
specific aims were to bring together those interested in Local History from all
over the County, to hold meetings regularly in different parts of the County, to
indicate what Local History activities were going on and to refate what work was
in progress and what had been writtenabout the County. Some, at teast, of these
aims have heen fulfilied. Successful meetings are regularly held and it is likely
that Devon histonans de meet more regularly and know each other better than
they otherwise might. Lists of meetings and courses around the County are
published. Books relating to the County have been printed in the Devon Union
List and it is hoped that additions to this will be printed regularly i the Devon
Historian. Lists of theses and other work on Devon history have been published
and tie only gaps in this sphere are articles about Devon in learned journalsand
material relating to Devon in Record Offices and the like outside the County,
11 is ajso possible to find out about members' interests by consulting the member-
ship lists.

Less successful, perhaps, has been the aim to make the Devon Historian
into a largely ‘methodological® magazine. The emphasis was to be on how to
write local history in Devon. There have been few articles of this nature lacgely
because few have been submitted. The Devon Historian still exists on a rather
‘hand to mouwth’ basis, there is no great backliog of unpublished material and
most, but aot all, material submitted has been published. There must be many
members who have contributions to make and this magazine hasalways tried to
avoid the distinction between the professional and the amateur historian so no-
one need feel diffident. Despite this rather hazardous existence the Editor has
always been conscious of being given a great deal of support by many people and
is confident that this will be continued under the next Editor, hapefully in the
best possible way, by providing her with as much material as the magazine can
handle,

Lastly, this magazine could hardly have been produced without the active
co-operation of the staff at Torbay Borough Council's Printing Department, to
whom many thanks are due.
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THE DEVON HISTORIC BUILDINGS TRUST
John Mejor

The joint initiative by the Devon Conservation Forum and the Devon
County Councii which led to the creation of the Devon Historic Buildings Trust
was reported at length in the October, 1973 issue of the Devon Historian, Now
that four years have elapsed, it is time to review progress and Lo judge whether
the experiment merits a permanent place in our county-based organisational
structure.

Pubtic concern about the built cnvironment has undoubtedly quickened in
the recent past. Compared with most other counties, Devon's townscapes are
still rich in lesser buildings because the effects of the indiscriminate bulldozer
have not been quite so devastating here as elsewhere; the thrust for change is
pitched at a lower level and local opinion is not slow to condemn destructive
erosion. Aesthetics apart, the case for perpetuating the county’s character on
economic grounds as a major attraction to the tourist trade is unassailable and
undoubtedly the lesser buildings contribute more inaggregate to the quality and
appeal of our towns and villages than any other single factor, Nevertheless,
attrition continues inexorably and there is no room for complacency.

The Devon Historic Buildings Trust’s Council of Management, headed by
the Lord Lieutenant, recognised this from the outset and decided therefore that
the bulk of their as yet meagre resources should be devoted to saving the smaller
buildings of merit. The principle of the revolving fund was adopted, whereby
buildings threatened by demolition or neglect would be bought, restared and re-
sold with appropriate safeguards, Thus the Trust’s capital could be steadily
turned over to repeat the process, ad infinitum, to maximum effect, Strong links
were quickly established with the Civic Trust which carefully scrutinised the
Articies of Association and examined the organisational structure and admisni-
strative arrangements; these were unreservedly approved. The links are even
stronger now and the Civic Trust’s highly esteemed moral support and practical
advice is always freely available,

In any newty-formed body, structural changes are not unusual in response
to the stimulus of acoruing experience. But if substantial modifications are
found to be necessary, this could be a signal that the basic concept is unsound
and needs to be reviewed. However, no such signalisevident and aithough there
have been some changes in the last four years, they were minor in scope and
largely confined to procedural refinements. Mr. Phipps Turnbull, the County
Planning Officer, did make one suggestion — to restrict membership of the
Technicai Panel to the technical officers handling drawings, planning and grant
applications, ¢tc. and re-forming the Trust’s advisers from the various parts of
the county into a separate Advisory Panel. The Council of Management agreed,
with the result that the number of cumbersome meetings has been substantially
reduced. Walter Minchinton was appointed chairman of both the Technical
Panel and the Advisory Panet. Tight management control is exercised over the
Trust's day to day affairs by a triumvirate which links the functions of the Trust’s



three committees: it consists of Heary Ayre, the Trust’s chairman and widely
experienced in business and community work, including local government;
Walter Minchinten, a positive acadenuc with initiative and the knack of making
swift decisions; and the Trust’s secretary. Major policy decisions are, of course,
in the hands of the Council of Managemeat, Inevitably, this Conucil has suffered
some turnover but, fortunately, continuity has not been impaired. The
remaining founder members arc Charles Ansell, Heary Ayre, Anthony Hollow,
Walter Minchinton, Ceolonel JE, Palmer, and Dr. Robinson’ Thomas,
besides the President, Lord Roborough. They have been joired now by Walter
Daw, Mrs. Langdon, Wing Commander Mortimer, Willlam Thompson
and Wilham Treeby — all of whom are County or District Councitlors. All
members of the Couacil of Management are well-known county personalities
and their support is indicative of the growing effectiveness of the Trust which is
further underlined by the fact that ali but onc Members of Parliament for
Devon's constituencies are Vice- Presidents. Vital to the Trust's operation are the
services provided by Alan Bennett, the Couaty Secretary, who is also the Trust's
tegal adviser. and Malcolm Thompson, the County Treasurer, who looks after
the finances. Both have been most helplul, :

The County Council provided the Trust with its initia} starting capital of
£25,000, thus honouring a promise made to the Devon Conservation Forum
during the formuiation stage. It came in the form of £19,500 cash and the gift of
that iH-starred embarrassment, Ifeland House in Ashburton, which the Trust
soon discovered to need something approaching £60,000 to restore, with a
maximum re-sale value of no more than £40,000. Well-intentioned citizens —
who should have known better — procecded to assail the Secretary with
demands for the Trust to start work on Ireland House upon the instant. His
patient arithmetical explanationg were impatiently brushed aside: “Weil, at leust
DG something”, one woman said. “It is scandalous that owners of historic
buildings let them rot like this”, said another, “and don't try to confuse me with
figures!” After exploring a number of avenues, the Secretary finally found a

sympathetic ear in the Teignbridge District Council whose officers accepted the

basic conversion plans and adapted them for local authority housing purposes.
The building work has now started, after lengthy and delicate negotiations with
the Depactment of the Environment.

In the meantime, three derelict cottages in South Molton's conservation

area were acquired and converted into a single dwelling, during the cowrse of -

which the Trust applicd for ancl obtained a re-classification of the arca te
‘outstanding’. ‘I'he Lrust's architect was Frank Eldridge. He closely supervised
the execution of his plans, with eminently satisfaciory results. The project was
not without its difficuities and disappointments, chief of which was the Local
Authority’s steadfast refusal to make an improvement grant, notwithstanding
that all the official eriteria were met, It is noteworthy that the authority con-
cerned has never contributed a single penny ta the Trust’s funds, although hope
springs eternal!

Next on the list was a seventeenth-century water conduit in East Street,
Ashburton. it is an interesting historic street feature which was in danger of
collapse. With welcome financial contributions from the active and well-run

Ashburton and District Amenity Society — a founder~-member of the Devon
Conservation Forum — and the County Council’s Dartinoor National Park
Committee, the Trust dismantled the conduit, re-dressing the granite and
replacing where necessary, and rebuilt it as it was. This was followed by financial
help towards a lovely little lime-kiln at Studdicombe Creck which the local
residents, led by Pippa Woods and Dr. Mary Dixon, were deterntined to save.

The historically important long house knawn as ‘Sanders’ in the Dartmoor
hamlet of Lettaford was the Trust’s greatest disappointment to date. Before
buying it, the Trust consulted the Dartmoor National Park Authority, who
encouraged the Trust to proceed, with the intention of acquiring it for use as a
countryside interpretation centre in the National Park. The Dartmoor National
Park Authority cxpected the purchase money to come from their 1975/ 76 fund
allocation, Consequently, detailed planning of the restoration started, in close
collaboration with the D.N.P.A. at all stages, and the Trust successfully applied
for *Sanders’ to be classified as a national monument. Much work went into the
project but unhappily the Dartmoor National Park Committee had to withdraw
for lack of funds and the Trust’s only alterndtive was to pass ‘Sanders’ on to the
Landmark Trust, who at that time were in the market. Aninternal post-mertem
showed that the Trust's co-ordination and progressive management decisions,
far from being at fault, had indeed ensured the avoidance of a capital loss, While
it was true that effort and money could have been empioyed more usefully else-
where, all indications at the time had been favourable and the Trust, being no
more biessed with foresight than anyone else, had been right to try.

The Trust is frequentiy consulted about buildings it does not own.
Altogether, it has been involved in about one hundred threatened listed
buildings to date. A number of these reqguired close investigation; some called
for a vigorous defence; whereas others merely needed an objective and authori-
tative analysis of their environmental worth to save them. Direct requests have
been received from localauthorities for help in solving problems and the Trust's
two current projects fall into this category. The first is a pair of Grade I town
houses with early nineteenth-century shop fronts in the centre of the Ottery St.
Mary conservation area, where building work is now in progress, They had
deteriorated to the point of dereliction over the past twelve years and two years
ago the Cauaty Planning Officer asked the Trust to take them on. Negotiations
to purchase started soon afterwards but the legal situation was surprisingly
complicated and they were onty recently concluded. The second is the Qid Police
Station at Tiverton, also Grade 11, where Tiverton District Council asked for
ideas, After doinga feasibility study, the Trust is preparing the detailed drawings
for a scheme and if all goes according to plan, work should start on the site
iowards the end of this year.

This review would be incomplete without a word about finance. We have
seen that the starting assets were £19,500 and a buildirg worth £5,500. The
Council of Management, knowing this to be pitifully inadequate for the task
ahead, set about appealing to the private sector for donations whereupon the
financial crisis developed. Regrettably, very few people responded, The County
Councii had set the scene for further support from the local authorities but they,



too, were feeling the pinch, The Trust’s interim target of £100,000 would have
been reached by now but for the unfortunate financial down-turn. As it is, the
latest audit shows net assets of £54,800, every penny of which will be needed for
the two current jobs in hand.

In the circumstances, things could be very much worse, The Trust knows
that it is newded in Devon and that it has helped whenever possible. Many private
citizens have asked for advice and have not gone away unaided. The-Trust has
already earned much goodwillin Devon but, as Henry Ayre said at the AGM last
June, the capital fund must be fucther increased to expand the practical work.
If any reader has a pound or two to spare, Waiter Minchinton will gladly pay it
in; alternatively, send it direct to the Devon Historic Buiidings Trust, Bradninch
Halt, Castle Street, Exeter, Every donation wili be acknowledged and it will go
towards a building, not administration,

‘The path of the restorer of buildings is difficult. What at first sight appears
to be straightforward, more often than not turas out to be the reverse. Dis-
appointments and set-backs are part of the scene, no matter how carefully one
tries to pre-plan. But one thing is certain: the Trust would have foundered at an
early stage if it were not served by weil-motivated optimists who know how to
apply the principles of management in a good cause which deserves the widest
support throughout the county.

-

NOTES ON NEW CONTRIBUTORS

Michaet Bouquet is a retired teacher and author of three boeks on maritime
history. He collects old ‘ship’ photographs.
Stanley G. Chapman is Pasold Reader in Textile History in the University of

Nottingham and has just edited “The Devon Cloth Industry in the Eighteenth
Century”, the latest velume published by the Devon and Cornwall Record

Society.

R.O. Heath and F.K. Theobald are respectively Chairman and Vice-President
of the Moretonhampstead and District Museum and l.ocat History Society.
John Mejor is Secretary to the Devon Conservation Forum and to the Devon
Historic Buiiding Trust.

THE PAPERS OF A NORTH DEVON MARINER
Michael Bouguet

After the death at Braunton in North Devon in the summer of {970 of
Thomas Arthur Slee, aged 80, his nephew gave me a bundle of his uncle's papers,
Sorted out and arranged in order these documents are presented to give the
story of Slee’s progress from Ordinary Seaman to Master Mariner and
eventually to Owner. The name of each document or series of documents is
Halicised,

* B oA

Tom Slee was born at Brauaton in 1890 when the general atmosphere of
that village was one of small shipowning and operation. In particuiar his own
family background was one of seafaring. In fact, the oldest documents in the
bundle refer to relatives. One dated August, 1891 is a “paper discharge” or more
correctly a Certificate of Discharge for Seamen discharged before the Super-
intendant of a Mercantile Marine Office in the United Kingdom.... This wasthe
type of Discharge Certificate given to forcign-going seamen before the intro-
duction of the Discharge Book, or Continuous Certificate of Discharge, in 1894,
This particular Discharge relates to a relation of Slee, one Thomas Butler, an
A.B. in the s.5. Celynen of Newport, where he was discharged after a month's
foreign-going voyage. Also relating to Butler is a Certificate of Dishcarge from
the Royal Naval Reserve Force in 1904, when he was rated as Trained Man First
Ctass in R.N.R. Butler had served inthe R.N.R. from [892 to 1904 which would
have qualified him for a gratuity of at least £50, inaddition to the smali retaining
fee paid every quarter. Many merchant seamen {rom Bideford, Brauaton and
Appledore were R.N.R. men and the money they earned serving with it was a
weicome supplement to their low wages in the coasting trade. {(see W.J, Slade,
Out of Appledore, {959, page 21, {or the importance of the R.N.R, to the local
gconomy.)

There are five more Certificates of Discharge for Seamen not discharged
before a Superintendent, i.¢. seamen on Home Trade articles. They all relate to
another relation ‘of Slee’s and cover his service in the local wooden ketches
Amazon, Magpie Annie, Bonita, Acacia and Olive Branch,

The first evidence of Tom Slee's own seagoing career comes not from a
“paper discharge” but from a picture postcard, postmarked June 25, [910ona
halfpenny stamp. Posted at Bude this card shows a ketch rounding the break-
water of that port. Tom Stee was aboard the ketch Clara May, and he once told
me that he could not get on with the Old Man, The postcard wasaddressed to his
mother and really tells its own story — “Dear Mother, We are bound in over the
Bar (i.e. Bideford Bar) so Ishali not come home by train. 1dor’t know why you
telegraphed. 1 have got money. | am supposed to give 24 hours notice, and as |
have begun another voyage I have got to finish, We are notlikely to get out fora
couple of days. Send paper next post after you get this. Tom”

He must have left the Clara May very quickly for on June 28 he signed on
as O.S. aboard the schooner Result (5.J. Incledon, Master}. His Certificate of
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MORETONHAMPSTEAD AND DISTRICT MUSEUM AND LOCAL
HISTORY SOCIETY

R.0Q. Heath and F.K. Theobald

On 26th February, 1965 nine pcaple met in the house of a Mrs. Johnson, a
local Estate Agent aud formally inaugurated the Moretonhampstead and
District Local History Group. Only one further meeting was held that year when
five of the original nine were present with two new recruits. From small
beginnings ....

Mrs. Johnson was the Chairman and meetings were soon big enough to
justify a move to the local library. Since these early days the programme has
settled down to regular monthly meetings with eight local or guest speakers. the
Annual General Mecting, at least two surnmer walk abouts and other visits,
Meetings in the earlier years seldom exceeded 18 but in 1969 there was a con-
siderable upsurge in membership and the small room then available in the
Library became too smatl and necessitated a move to the local Freemasons Hall.
Muost lectures now attract 40 or more memberts with over 50 on special occasions.
Annual dinners are held and the 1977 dinner was so popular that no hostelry in
the town could accommedate the numbers and the venue was moved to Steps
Bridge Hotel. Out of a membership of 77 (over 5% of the population) 60
‘historians’ and 5 guests sat dowa to dinner. The Guests included Ian Mexcer,
the Dartmoor National Park Officer, and Robin Stancs, the Editor of this
journal,

So much for statistics — but what of the Saciety’s achievements? In 1967
the word *Museum’ was incorporated in the title. The Society does not have a
museum, as such, but it was decided that it would be better to make a special
effort once a year (during, say, the Village Carnival Week) and hold an
exhibition of historic interest. This ambition was helped considerably by Devon
County Council offering the Society the sole use of a large former billiard room
over the Moretonhampstead Library. This room is just large enough for
meetings provided members do not increase much beyond the present level but
not for a permanent museum as well. Twe of the exhibitions have now been held
with considerable success. Items displayed have been flints to photographs,
butter pats, uniforms, dresses, paperweights, spinning, weaving, Honiton lace-
making, deeds and documents, a very gruesome collection of surgical instru-
ments and many other items connected with the past of the village. In this
current year the exhibition will concentrate on dresses and uniforms together
with connected items such as shoes, handbags, lace, etc,

What about our achievements regarding our own lacal history? Lectures
are not solely concerned with Morcton’s past history. Guest speakers cover a
wide range of subjects -— The County Archives, Exeter Cathedral, Railways of
Devon, Barometers, Dartinoor Prison, Folklore, Roman Excavationsin Exeter
and so forth. Expeditions have been made to various sites on Dartmoor, to
histaric buildings in Exeter and elsewhere inciuding Powderham Castle, the
home of our Manorial Lords for half a millenium, Apart from their entertain-
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ment value, this wider range of lectures and expeditions provides an indispen-
suble background knowledge which is so essential to a proper understanding of
Moreton's place in the history of this part of Devonshire. Moreton DID have a
place in that history, a fact which is being brought out more and more by our
own indigenous lecturers. The Society does naot lack local talent!

First and foremost there is Mrs. E.R. Leadbetter a founder member and
Chairman from 1968 to 1976, and now Life President. Apart from her wide
knowledge of local affairs, she can claim to be ar authority on the murder of
Jonathan May in 1835, a local ‘cause c€iébre” which uitimately became a matter
of national concern, George Fricnd, our Parish Clerk, who joined the Socicty
in 1966, Vice-Chairman for 8 years and an acknowledged authority on matters
Moretonian, has a vast store of informatien and an historic collection of early
photographs including one depicting the devastation in Cross Street after the
disastrous fire of 1845, Mr. Friend can always command a full house, and one
day we hope he wili find time to complete the book which has occupied his few
spare moments for many past years. Virginia Sandon has been a member since
1965. She is an authority on prehistory, who includes among her many tatents
an ability to iranslate the abbreviated Latin of ancient documents, Nick Sandon,
who teads those documents as tluently as a child’s story book, is also a member,

There are others who have made a special study of various aspects of local
history, industries, the 1840 Tithe Map, deeds of local properties, and such; and
1977 has seen the writings of two of our members appear in print. The firstto be
published was ‘Walks in the Dartmoor National Park — Nog. | — from
Moretonhampstead, Manaton, and Lustleigh’, produced in the Dartmoor
National Park Department by Elizabeth Prince who is one of our younger
members and our Booking Secretary, The style and content of this booklet
surely heralds much more to come from the same pen. More directly concerned
with our town is ‘Sparrowhawk. The Story of Moretonhampstead® by
R.O. Heath, which is reviewed elsewhere in this issue.

With all the foregoing activities, enthustasm and effort has anything really
been achieved? Has anything been discovered that was previously unknown? Do
local history socjeties like this still have a part to play in this last quarter of the
20th century?

As far as Moreton is concerned the answer to all three guestions is a
resounding ‘ves’. Our success as a Society is self-evident, and isa clear indication
that we are adding something to the quality of life in our community, Dis-
coveries in the strict sense of the word have not been made, little has been
uncovered that had not previously been recorded in standard reference books or
scattered in odd sentences throughout numerous publications and manuscripts;
hut in the wider sense we have certainly ‘discovered’ that Moreton does have a
history, a fact which has so far not been recognised. And much still remains to be
uncovered about this “factious place calied Moretor', which in itseif is a
sufficient reason for the existence of any ‘amateur’ local history society. Success
and long life to all such Societies!
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The future? A full programme has been planned for over a year ahead. The
first lecture this year was on the Geology of Dartmoor by lan Mercer of the
Dartmoor National Park Committee. Other well known lecturers have been
booked and a Spring visit has been arranged to the newly opened National
Trust house at Killerton,
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INDUSTRIAL HOUSING IN DEVON BEFORE 1770
Staniey D. Chapman

The characteristics of industria} housing before 1770 can be discerned from
the work of students of vernacular architecture, urban history, capital formation
and other specialisms. Part of the growing population was accommodated by
dividing and overcrowding existing houses, part by the infilling of burgage plots
with a variety of workshops, tenements and a clutter of other small buildings.
Studies of particular towns have shown that the street frontages of the main
thoroughfares were occupied by the late middle ages. Urban houses occupied
narrow frontages but the plots were deep so that extensions to the rear were not
only the most obvious growth point but in most cases the oniy direction in which
new development could take place. The process of accretion of small buildings
might begin with a separate kitchen and proceed by additions of a washhouse,
coalhouse, brewhouse, stable, workshops and sometimes tenements, the whole
forming a yard or court in which domestic, farm and industrial buildings were
mingled together as tradition and need dictated?.

In these situations it was a common practice to change and adapt buildings
to different uses as the occupation of the owner {or tenant) changed or trade
prospered or declined. The practice was especially common through the
eighteenth century because muitipie occupations were common, especially where
the local market was restricted or where (as 1n the case of the textile indusiries)
the market for the product was volatiie because of sudden shifts in fashion or
overseas demand. Consequently, a smati tradesman would very frequently bea
clothier and maltster, or sergemaker and shopkeeper, or an innkeeper and
woolman, shifting the emphasis of his interests and the use of his property from
one employment to another as trade dictated. The use of innsand inn yards fora
varicty of trading activities also led to the building of more or less permanent
lodgings and storerooms whose use also shifted with the winds of trade. The
earliest, and for long the most extensive industrial housing, was to be found in
these busy yards and clutter of industrial and commercial building?.

Local variations wifl no doubt appear in profusion as the historians’
reconstruction”of the pattern of urban growth takes its patient and plodding
course. For the present purpose it is probably sufficient to acknowledge the
inevitable existence of local variations and mention two that are particularly
relevant to the present study. The width of street frontages does not appear to
have been standardised anywhere but surviving buildings suggest that they were
typically wider in some towns than others. Considerable differences can be
found within one county, for instance in Devon the frontages in Exeter,
Crediton and Cullompton are wider than those in Totnes. The consequence was
that burgage plot development ceuld be not only L-shaped but also U-shaped
and so grow into an enclosed court. Thereisample evidence of this development
in the Devon serge making towns in the muddle decades of the eighteenth
century. Another interesting focal variation is the conversion of out-buildings
(including workers® tenements and agricultural buildings} from one use to



another, as owners shifted the emphasis of their interests or the property
changed hands. In Devon, the open-fronted cattle stalls known as linhays (or
linneys) were sometimes used as spinning ‘galleries’ or (as ‘chain linneys’} for
‘warping the chains’ - that is, preparing the yarn for the looms?. In Scotland, at
the same period, a flax mill converted from a square of teneinents is recorded
and other conversions from domestic to industrial use and vice versa can be
found scattered through the records®,

Taking Britain as a whole, the most complete record of the development of
these innumerable *back yard' industrial communities is Lo be found among the
voluminous records of the ¢arly insurance companies®. The insurance policies
of the larger urban property owners give a vivid picture of the tangle of indus-
trial, domestic and retail property that was spreading rapidly in some of the
industrial towns at the period. A more detatled analysis of early industrial
housing demands that the pelicies of one region be brought into closer focus,
Devon has been chosen for this purpose for two distinct reasons, Its eighteenth-
century importance as an industrial county is beyond guestion; Defoe described
it as a county 4o full of great towns, and those towas so full of people, and those
people so universally employed in trade and manufactures, that not only it
eannot be equalled in England, but perhaps not in Europe’. The Devon serge
industry was more or less static through the cighteenth century but was not
extinguished until the rapid rise of the cotton industry in the 1790s, The other
reason for the choice of Devon is the purely practical one that the carly appear-
ance of the practice of fire insurance in the county has resuited in a fong series of
inventorics of industrial property for which there is neequal inany other county
or other set of archives. For the period 1750-70 there are policies for more than
400 firms situated in over sixty towns and villages in the Devon textile industry
and these have been combed for information on workers® housings.

The impression gained from the large number of insurance policies
availabie for Devon is that, before 1770, when there were still plenty of open
spaces to be filled wp, most of the accommodation for workers was being
provided in the growing number of vards and courts. The policies do notalways
state the number of tenements and sometimes the valuations group a number of
domestic and industrial buildings together. However, the majority give more
precise information and an analysis of the average valuations of tenements listed
in textile entreprencurs’ policies is set out in Table 1. The data must be inter-
preted by reference 1o valuations of other kinds of property. A stable was usually
valued at £10 at the period and a small barn of the kind that would stand in a
yard, the same sum. A tenement valued in the first category (up to £9} implies
something inferior to a stable, in the second category (£10-£19) suggests a one-
roomed dwelling slightiy more comfartable than a stable, perhaps with a loft for
sieeping, while the third category (£20-£29) would suggest a rudimentary twa-
roomed dwelling. Nearly 80 per cent of the houses in the table fall into these
deseriptions,

These inferences are consistent with what we know of working-class
housing in other parts of England ai the time. Thus Rimmer writes of the earliest
courts of Leeds that .
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The smallest, cheapest accommodation consisted of ‘one low room’ ranging from three 1o six
yards square, built over stables or tucked away at the back of a yard. Thyse single rooms were
vented for 4d, a week, maostly to impoverished widows and spinsters....Cattages occupied by
working class families with four or five people usually had two rooms, a living room with a
slceping chamber above. On the whole these roonts measured 14 feet cach way. and theiz rent
was 6d. a week. For 9d. a week anartisan could rent a slighily larger cottage with rooms 20
feet square. These variations in size and rent meant a greal deal in terms of physical comfort
and status to these who passed their lives inside their walls. But taking one place with
another, working men rented houses of onc ar two rooms with a floar space between the
extremes of nine and thitty-six square yards?.

TABLE 1. Insurance Yzluatian of Tenements attached to Devon Texiile
Entrepreneura’ Property, 1750-17T0

Average value of No. of
tenements tenements
Up o £9 14

£10-19 . 226 37
£20-29 133
£30-39 56
£40-45 . 7
£50-59 20
£60-69 14
£70-79 2
£80-89 I
£90-9% 0
£100+ _in
433

Source . Sun Fire Office Registers, Guildhall Library, London,

Moving to the other side of the Pennines, it is not difficult to find evidence for a
sirmifar kind of property at the peried. At Oldham, it was said that “The cottages
of the working population were mostly formed of mis-shapen stone and rude
pieces of timber plastered over with clay and thatched with straw — they were
generally one storey, the sleeping apartment being mostly & separate room on the
ground fleor. Both compartments were open to the roof (i.e. lacked ceilings),
and but ill-supplied with light or air...."¥ In the industrial Midlands at the middle
of the cighteenth century the same primitive standard is evident. Reinhald
Angerstein, a Swede who was visiting Walverhampton in 1753, noted in his
journal
Toward evening  took a walk in the town, which has a diameter of about one English mile as
is provided with a goodly number of well-built houses of brick. On the outskirts of the town,
where most of the arisans live, there ace also many wretched hovels, which clearly show that
also in this place the worker is lelt with the bones while the aycrchant takes the meat {ar
himself®.
The plates inctuded in Deering's Nottingham Vetus et Nova {1751) convey a very
similar impresston of the centre of the framework knitting industry. They illus-
trate a kind of dwelling that must have been all too familiar at the time —a one-
roomed shanty that was dark, damp. draughty and desperately overcrowded,

These fragments of evidence are too few to constitute a total picture, but
they are at feast consistent. The Devon data serves to caution us about sweeping
generalisations but it seems safe to conclude that, before 1770, industrial
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housing in England was much like that of artisans and the ‘labouring poor’
generally and that in most cases it was no better than much of that found ou the
margins of towns in underdeveloped countries of the world today.
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STAUNTON — A DESERTED SOUTH HAMS VILLAGE
Christian Michel! and Margaret Common

Staunton or Stanton lies about two miles north east of the village of
Loddiswell in the South Hams. Early topographical writers spoke of the parish
of Loddiswell as being composed of two villages, Staunton and Loddiswell,
Today apart from a fairly recent bungalow ard a cottage all that remains of
Staunton are broken pieces of walling almost lost in the uadergrowth,
occasienal garden plants are a poignant reminder of the inhabitants of the past.

The first reference to Staunton is in the thirteenth century. From then on
until the ¢nd of the last century there is documentary evidence to show that there
was a settlement of some size at Staunton, In 1262 the Lordship of Loddiswell
was in the hands of Eva de Cantilupe. She gave, in her widowhood, 100 shiilings
of land in her Manor of Laddisweil to the Church of St. Mary Studley, in
Warwickshire, and to the Canons there, for the soul of her husband William,
Amongst other names mentioned were Edith de Staunton and Martin de
Staunton who held a ferling of land each. The moor of Staunton is also
mentioned. {This is probably the Blackweli and Blackpoo! of the Sorley Charter
of 992 whose bounds as determired by Professor Finberg run close to Staunton.)
The Devonshire Lay Subsidy of 1332 adds something to this, since it states that
Joan de Staunton was a taxpayer at that date,

Nothing more can be discovered about Staunton urtilafter the Dissolution
of the Monasteries, when in 1557, Katherine Champernowne, widow, late the
wife of Philip Champernowne, and Arthur Champernowne together received a
grant of lands in Webbeton in Loddisweli. These lands are named as ‘late of
Studley Priory, Co. Warwick.” A list of tands includes “Staunton Moor and all
other piaces belonging to the same, with a messuage, a furlong and a parcel of
mooar in the lordship of Laddiswell in the tenure of John Scoos the younger, and
a yearly rent of 14s. paid for the commons calied Staunton Moor™,

Further details are provided by a survey of Loddiswell of 1602/3 done for
the Arundeils of Lanherne, who were then Lords of the Manor of Loddiswell.
This included parts of Staunten. Amongst the frecholders was “Helen Carswell
widow, who holdeth certain lands in free socage and payeth to the Lord Is. and -
two suits of court” for her lands in Staunton. The customary tenants inciuded
John Cawker who “holdeth, by copy, a tenement and one furlong of land there
by rent of 18s. 6d.” In addition, he occupied part of the moor catled Stonlands.
Symen Dery had “a tenement at Staunton containing one lerling by rent of 26s.
{1d. and pasture for one beast in Stonland”, Stonland may be another name for
Staunton moor, the name Staunton or Stanton probably meaning the “farm
built of stone”™ or the “farm in a stony place™. The map clearly shows Stoneland
Moor,

Staunton appears 0 have passed next to the Carews, since a survey made
for them of “Staunton moores” in 1676 speaks of eight people paying rent. In
1683 a survey of Webbeton manar speaks of it as “now in the hands of Sir Joha
Carew”,
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By the middle of the eighteenth century Staunton had apparently no less
than 26 houses. This is recorded in Dean Milles enquiry of about 1754,
Loddiswell was only twice the size with 50 houses,

Staunton seems to have begun its decline from that time onwards. The
census returns of 1841, 1851 and 1861 reveal that there were then only 12 houses
there in which 66 peopie lived in 1841, but only 54 in 186{. The Tithe Map of
1839 reveals Staunton as it was then, What may be 12 houses are clearly
identifiable, though only eight are stated to be houses. It is possible to see where
other houses may once have been; possibly in 742, 737, 797, 796 and less clearly
in 778 and 759. No. 764 was a farm house belonging to Servington Penney and
in it hved 3 people. That house has quite disappeared but on its site is a new
bungalow. Benjamin Bond, who farmed 100 acres, lived at 766 and 767 and his
household consisted of twelve people. All this has gone except the southern wall
and a barn was made on this site in 1870. The Keepers cottage at 783 has gone
completely, as have 784 and 779 and what was a housc at 794 is now another
barn. The only remaining old cottage is 768 which is stil} occupied. There are
remains of walls 4 to 7 feet high and uader the present surface of 760 and 76t
are foundations.

However, despite its decline in size from the time of the Milles survey, it
seems that Staunton was still a2 thriving community. In 1846 a Bible Christian
Chapel was built at Staunton. THis stood in the north east corner of 743. It was
built by the Peek family of Hazelwood in Loddiswell and it had seating for 117,
There were already two places of worship in Loddiswel} village and another
Bibie Christian Chapel had been built at Hazelwood a vear earlier, also
presumably at the expense of the Peeks. The Ecclesiastical census of 1851 gave
the average afternoon attendance at Staunton Chapet as S0adulis and 60 in the
evening. The Sunday attendance averaged 34. No doubt most of these people
did not five at Staunton, but the figures are impressive. However as the century
went on the attendance dwindled and in 1897 Kelly's Directory recorded that

the Chapel “was very irreguifarly used”. [t was pulled down before 1914 and the .

stones reused. At the time of the building of the Chapel there was a mine being
worked at Blackdown, close to where the old "motte and bailey™ of Loddiswell
Rings is. This was partly financed by local people. In 1847 it was raising lead ore
but it closed down before 1850, White's Directory of 1851 refers to a copper mine
opened in 1826. This closure may have made some smali contribution to the
depopulating of Staunton but the village at other times sems to have been
agricultural. Atany rate by 1906 there was just one house standing, inhabited by
a gamekeeper but he too departed in 1918. Now, as has been described, there are
two houses, where once there was a flourishing viflage of 26 or more,

It is not easy to explain what caused this dectine and eventual disappear-
ance. Traditionally Staunton was not healthy. It was surrounded by boggy
ground. The late Mrs. Florence Rundle of Loddiswell said that when she wasa
girl, ncarly a hundred years ago, she was warned not to go to Staunton Moor for
there was disease there.

During the time which is described in the Parish registers as the “Plague
time, anno 1590 about one in eight of the population died of the plague between
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March and September. Amongst those who died were members of the Wyet,
Pytt and Cooke famity, some of whom are known to have lived at somne time at
Staunten. About one third of those who died came from these families. Thirty
years later the Phillips family of Staunton suffered very regular losses. In 1621
William the son and Marie the daughter of John Phillips died, In April 1628
John Phillips and his daughter Margaret both died and another son in July and
vet another member of the family a little later. 1t has heen suggested that these
deaths were caused by typhus originally brought back by soldiers from
Buckingham’s cxpeditions who fanded at Plymouth and Dartmouth.
Loddiswell register records the deaths of two soldiers in [625, who do not seem
to have been local men. But the gap between 1625 and 1628 seems rather long for
that*,

There is another possible reason for the decline of Staunton. Until 1893
it was much less isolated than it is. Three times o day a coach passed Blackdown
from Kingsbridge for Wrangaton, where trains could be boarded. Alternatively,
in the same way Kingsbridge could be visited. It was one mile from Staunton to
the coach road and Staunton was better setved by public transport then than
Loddiswell is today. However, in {893 the Kingsbridge-Brent railway was
opened, the coaches stopped and Stauaton’s communications were cut. By this
time the Chapel was little used, the school (now compulsery) was two miles
away and farm work demanded fewer men perhaps. By the beginning of this
cenfury Stauntan had virtually gone. Devon has apparently few deserted
villages, in comparison to other counties. Here is one whose history may very
well be matched by other similar sites in the county, so far unrecoguised.

* Editors Note. Il Staunton was boggy, this sickliness may have been caused
by some form of malaria, The Milles enquiry records that health improved very
largely at Seaton and Powderham after the draining of the marshes there. The
“Ague” disappeared. Tertiary and quartan ague which frequently occurred in
seventeenth century England, seem to have been some form of malaria. Those
suffering from endemic malaria may have offered less resistance to other
diseases,
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AIR PHOTOGRAPHS FOR THE DEVON HISTORIAN
Walter E. Minchinton

Air photographs can help the local historian in a number of ways — in
identifying sites, in investigating crop patterns, in analysing town developments
and in other ways.

There are three types of sources on whichk historians in Devon can draw to
obtain aerial photographs which can be of two types :  (a) vertical, taken at
right angles to the ground, and (b} obligue so that shadows can be used to aid
identification of sites.

(@) Vertical air photographs (available in public repositories)
1. The West Country Studies Library, Exeter Library, Castle Street.
Has oblique photographs covering east Devon area taken mostly by
Aerofilms Ltd. during the past fifteen years; also 8 in, square black and
white oblique photographs of Exeter and other major Devon towns.
They can be consulted during office hours.

2. County Planning Office, County Hall, Topsham Road, Exeter. Has
a complete set (stereo cover) for Deven of black and white RAF
vertical photographs taken mainly in 1947 (scale [:10560). Viewing
by application during office hours.

3. Dartmoor National Park, County Hall, Topsham Road, Exeter.
Telephone Exeter 77977, extension 714 (Mrs. Christine White). The
Dartinoor National Park Authority has colour air phetographs made
in 1969 of the open moor onty, not fringes (scale 1:10,000); colour
air photographs made in 1973 of the whole moor (not sterco cover,
scale 1:10,000); black and white air photographs made in 1975 of the
whole moor (stereo cover, scale 1:24,000), They may be consulted by
members of the public during office hours; it may save inconvenience
to telephone first.

4, Air Photographs Unit, Department of the Euvironment, Thames
House South, M;libank London, S.W.t. Telephone 01-211 6216.
Has a'set of bldck and Whllc RAF verticals taken [945 onwards for the
whale country; various scales, They will need grid reference and/or
parish and area.

(b) Vertical (Plan/air photographs/commercial)

The three firms listed below stock a wide variety of air photographs. They
generally need to be given the grid reference, approximate area and scale of
photograph required. They tend te be expensive. The firms are ;-

5. Fairey Surveys Ltd., Reform Road, Maidenhead, Berkshire.
6. Hunting Surveys Ltd., 6 Elstree Road, Boreham Wood, Herts.

7. Meridan Air Maps Ltd., Commerce Way, Lancing, Sussex.
{¢) Other photograph depositories :-
Here there are three sources :-
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8.  Department of History, Archacology Section, University of Exeter.
The Section has a miscellancous coltection of air photographs built up
largely for teaching purposes.

(i} Vertical photographs ;-
RAF cover of areas of Dartmoor, particularly Horridge
Common: taken in 1951, 1967, 1968, ]
Fatrey Surveys Ltd; photographs of reservoir sites on Dartmoor:
taken 1968,

(i} Oblique photographs :-
Photographs of archacological sites from the following saurces :
Cambridge University Collection, Aerofilms Ltd., Harold
Wingham, Cheltenham Aero Club,

Though not normally available for use by the public, any person requiring
access to the collection should apply in writing to Archacology Section,
Department of History, University of Exeter, Queen’s Building, Exeter,
EX4 4QH,

9. Cambridge University Committee for Aerial Photography — Pro-
fessor J.K.5. St. Joseph, Mond Building, Free Schoo! Lane,
Cambridge, CB2 3RF.

Professor St. Joseph has a wide sefection of air photographs mainly of
earthworks and cropworks. He needs to be told parish and/or grid
reference and/or site for which the photograph is required.

10. Air Photographs Unit, National Monuments Record - Mz, T,
Hampton, Fortress House, 23 Savile Row, London, WIX ZAA,
Mr. Hampton has a smaller collection, mainty of cropworks. He needs
to be told the grid reference of kilometre grid square.

GARDEN EARTHWORKS

During landscaping in the [6th and 17th centuries garden carthworks were
often erected, as at Low Ham and Hardington in Somerset. {n some cases later
landscaping may have removed them. Michael Aston who lalked to the Standing
Conference for Devon History al Crediton in November would welcome infor-
mation — ncluding documentary evidence — for gardens or ornamental parks
with earthworks created between 1500 and 1700. Please write to him ut the
County Planning Department, County Hall, Somerset, TAt 4DY.

THE UNIVERSITY OF EXETER AND DEVON HISTORY, A SECOND
LIST

Walter E. Minchinton

In Devon Historian 8 (April, 1974) a list of the various contributions made
by members of the Untversity of Exeter wus published. Four years later it secms
sensible to publish a second list bringing the position up-to-date. In order to
make reference easy, this list follows the pattern of the previous one.

Al Publications of the History of Exeter Research Group

No further volumes were issued and the Group has now been dissolved.

B. Other publications of the University of Exeter on Devon History
Nicholas 1. Orme, Education in the west of England, 1066-1548 (1976)
Basil G, Skinner, Henry Francis Lyte: Brixham’s Poet and Priest (1974)

C. Exeter Papers in Economic History ~
9. Walter Minchinton, ed. Capital formation in the south-west
(1978)
10, Jeffrey Porter, ed. Education and labour in the south-west
(1976)
11. Walter Minchinton, ed. Population and marketing: two studies

in the history of the south-west (1976}

0. Univesrsity of Exeter theses
(@) Geography
Graham J,N. Hawkins, The origin and growth of the towns of Topsham
and Tiverton. MA, 1971

)] History

Mrs. Mary P.D. Collison, The Courtenay Cartulary from Powderham
Castle, Devon. Vols. I and I1. MA, 1972

David J.”Robotham, Population change in Britain, 1600-1841, the
example of Topsham, Devon. MA,1972

Roger R. Scliman, Public elementary education in rural Devon, 1833-
1903: the locality and the State, PhD, 1973

{c) Sociology

Peter H.N.ID’Abbs, Rural depopulation and rural industrialisation: a
case study of north Devon. MA, 1976

Geoffrey 8. Duncan, Church and society in early-Victorian Torquay.
MA, 1972
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)

Local History Essays, Department of Economic History
VYarious topics

Gillian M. Babb. Mount Gould: the building of a twentieth century
church. [975

William Bakstad, New Tiverton turnpike. 1976

Michael L J. Beck and Michael C. Henman, A farm survey: astatistical
analysis of groups of farms and farm incemes in the south west. 1975

Michael J. Berthoud, The development of dairy farming in cast Devon
since the war, 1975

Graham R, Blackburn, The coastal coal trade of Devon in the latter half
of the nineteenth century. 1974

Alex Blues, The Dartmoor blowing houses. 1974

David [. Brindle, Brixham fishing trawlers — a statistical anélysis af the
crew lists 1880-1899. 1975

John W. Brown, Disorder and discontent in Devon ¢.1830-1850. 1974
Peter Butler, Sitverton parish school to 1870. 1576

Christopher C. Coughlin, Exeter hospital. 1976

Timothy Culien, The cinemnatograph halls of Devon, 1974

Robert E. Day, The history of Mont-le-Grand. 1974

Conrad H. Dixon, The Exeter whale fishery company. 1976

Elizabeth A. Dufton, Judy A. Kynnersley, Robert M. McMillan and
Elizabeth F. Ruse, Industrial housing in Devon. 1974

Christine Edginton, A guide 1o industrial archaeology i Tiverton. 974
David Edwards, The bread rints in Exeter, 1854, 1974

Richard W. Farr, The Trinitarian Controversy in Exeter and its
economic and social aspects. 1976,

Allen P. Gear, The pattern of land holdings in South Huish, south
Devon, 1776-1842. 1976

John M. Hailey, Devonshire landowners and industrial development
1780-1914. 1974

Philip J. Hawkins, The history of Silverton since {840. 1976
Sean F. Holden, The poor law in Devon. 1976

Christopher T, Hughes. An examination of provincial newspapers in
Devon. 1975

Diana James, The agricultural depression of Devon 1868-1895. 1974
David Mark Jones, Exmouth water works. 1976

Stephen M. Jones, The Devon brick industry in the twentieth century.
1975
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Michael Laizans, Devanshire marble: a look into the rise and decline of
a small industry in south Devon. 1974

Tan M. Lawrence, Devon population trends and developments, 192§-71.
1975

Richard C.W. Lister, Woodland use in the Teign valley, 1974
Mary McLeod, Exeter and Crediton navigation, 1974
Nicholas Monteith, The 1871 census in Devon. 1974

Stephen Mulberry, Shipwrecks around the Devonshire coast, 1850-99;
a study. 1974

Denzil PJW, Murray-Lee, The history of Lustieigh, 1976

lan A. Neil, The declining port: a study of Exeter as a port from 1860 ta
present day, 1973

Timothy G. Norman, Mining at Mary Tavy — Wheal Friendship and
Wheal Betsy. 1976

Scamus D. O'Hea, The history of Bridford, 1801-1851, 1976

David R. Oliver, Building and civil engineering disputes of August 1963
{with special reference to Devon). 1975

Geraldine Paddon, Arsenic mining. 1976
Michae! Pardoe, Holiday trade in the south west (Torbay). 1975
Deborah Potter, Tuberculosis in Exeter 1914-1955: a study, 1974

Angela Randali, The role of Devon charities in the age of the welfare
state. 1975

Nicholas Revell, Holiday facilities Teignmouth — Sidmouth 1850-19 4.
1975 '

Susan J. Roberts, The Exeter Turnpike Trust, 1974

Cheryl Rogers, The trade of Teignmouth port with specific reference
to the periods 1880-189C and 1900-1910. 1974

Jonathan P. Sanderson, Airfields and air services in Devon and
Cornwall, 1975.

Pau} J. Shevlin, Westcountry fishermen and the Barbary pirates in the
later seventeenth century. 1976

Simon Standish, Topsham and its shipbuilding industry 1700-1870.
1974

Rhoda H. Stanford, Endustrial history of cast Devon, 1974

Christine Taylor, Port of Exeter [8%0-1914. 1976

Jeremy Walford. A study of the Barnstaple gas works {832-1920, 1976
Caroline J. White, Banking in Exeter 1820-1535, 1974

Anthony J. Williams, The cattle plague of {865-1867 in Great Britain
with specific reference to Devon. [975
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(i}

Watermill Surveys
Janet M. Miils, Devon watermills, 1086-1850. 1976

Judith P. Reed, Devon watermills, [850-195(. 1976

Lxeter Papers in Industrial Archaealogy

5. Christine Edginton, Tiverton's industrial archacology: a guide
(1976) :
6. John Kanefsky, Deven Tolthouses (1976)
7. Walter Minchinton, Windmitls of Devon (1977)
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PAPER IN DEYON by Jean Chitty, Exeter: the author, 1976, 72 pp., £1.00
{obtainable ¢/ ¢ Exeter Medical Library, Postgraduate Medival Centre, Barrack
Road, Exeter, postage |19p).

During his lifetime, Dr. Alfred Shorter published a number of articles on
papermaking in Devon. Building on his waork, Miss Chitty, who is librarian of
the Exeter Medical Library, now tells the story in greater detail. She begins by
setting the history of the Devon paper industry in perspective, discussing first
the origins of papermaking, the raw materials used {animal, mineral, plant and
synthetic tibres), the papermakers themselves, inchuding some consideration of
the role of the trade societies and their wages, though not specifically related to
Pevon, and the processes involved in the manufacture. She then has two
chronological chapters on the mills themselves. The sartiest recorded paper mill
in England was established in Hertfordshire in (490 and the first Devon mill was
not recorded until 1683 in Plymouth although paper may have been made at
Countess Wear in 1638, In the eighteenth century 2 number of technologicat
improvements were introduced and the industry expanded; by 1800 there were
79 paper mills in Devon and the peak figure™of 41 mills was reached in 1820
From then on the number of mills in Deven fell for a variety of reasons: many
were very small and became abserbed into athers; the change from water-power
to steam and the invention of the Fourdrinier machine increased capital
requirements; while poor communications added to the cost of obtaining coal
for the new machines and distributing the finished product. Some of the hazards
of the industry are illustrated by three case studies: Kensham and Huxham Mitls
were destroyed by fire and the working iife of Tuckenhay Mill was terminated by
bankruptcy. Miss Chitty concludes her study with an account of the six miils
which still operate in the county: Sheepstor Handmade Papers Lid., Trews Weir
Mill, Reed & Smith's milis at Culiompton and Silverton and Wiggins Teape's
mills at Hele and lvybridge. There are three appendices: a translation of the
seventeenth-century Latin poem ‘Papyrus’, describing the process of paper-
making; advice {rora Mr. J.8. Mill, manager of Wookey Hole Papermill
[870.96, to his son Frank who succeeded him as manager; and a diary of
‘Events in 1875 at the Ivybridge’ mill.

. Celia King

INDUSTRIAL ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITES OF BRITAIN by Anthony
Burton. Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1977. 160 pp., £5.50. ISBN 0 297 77373 G.

Spurred on by the success of his volume on Remains of a revelution {Andre
Deutsch, 1975}, Anthoay Burton has now compiled a personal selection of sites
which, to guote the blurb, he finds particularly exciting, which demonstrate
some important paint in the history of technology or which are stimply beautiful,
And in so doing, Mr. Burton takes the view that industrial archacology covers
the whole period of industrial activity and is not confined to an interest in the
developments of the industrial revolution and since. After making this point, the
rest of the book consists of a gazeteer by arca — the South West, the South and
East, the Midlands, the North, Scotland and Walies, Although OS map
references are given, there are no maps and while some attempt is made to
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describe the sites and to place them in the developing story of industrial history,
the range of sites is imited and largely predictable. To Devon is allocated under
three pages — Brunels Saltash Bridge. Morwellham {which apparenatly is
situated further down the Tamar!), the Tavistock Canal, Haytor granite tram-
way. the clapper bridge at Postbridge, Cleve Mill and the Finch Foundry at
Sticklepath, the Newcomen engine at Dartmouth and the Exeter Canal — nine
sites in total 1s all that there is space far!l And none of the 58 black and white
photographs by Clive Coote, which are not listed, deal with Devon. There seems
little point inthe appendix ontranspart systems and the Kindest word to describe
the bibliography is ‘pathetic’. While it contains a number of attractive photo-
graphs. this 1s 2 book which neither advances discussion of the subject nor
adequately sorves as a guide to industrial archacological sites in Britain,

Walter E. Minchinton

SPARROWHAWK: THE STORY OF MORETONHAMPSTEAD by R.O.
Heath. 94 pp., photographs and plans, obtainable from Chairman of History
Society, 19 Fore Street, Moretonhampstead,

The author’s expressed intention is to ‘put Moreton back on the map as
town of some historic interest’, particularly since successive disastrous fires
have left so little of visible antiguity besides the church and the famous alms-
house. His interest, and the great majority of his text, isin the mediaeval period,
drawing on charters, close rolls, and court records for a surprisingly full account
of manorial and legal {and illegal) business of the Middle Ages asa background
to the development of the market town, ‘borough’, and woollen centre. Later
records are unfortunately neglected, though the parish registers, at least, arc of
considerable interest (and a separate Presbyterian register survives [rom the
1670s), and diocesan tecords show striking evidence for local Dissent and
licensed schoolmasters — including a grammar school ¢.1700. The episode of
Napoleonic officer-prisoners on parole, which has left traces in the registers and
in the church, is not mentioned; and the 19th century, apart from fires, is left
almost without comment,

This apparent lack of balance detracts somewhat from the work’s value as
‘the story of Moretonhampstead’. But the writing is lively, and factual errors,
despite the author’s professed amateur status, are rare (thougb a knight's fee
was not a cash payment, and a bordar did not *work full time on the Barton farm
in return for his hut and food"). The text as it stands undoubtedly demonstrates
Moreton's claitm to a historic past, and ong wishes that the writer had gone
further to give a similar detailed attention to a later period and so provide some
cantinuity between remoter and more recent tumes.

R.R.5,
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PILTON, ITS PAST AND ITS PEOPLE by M.A. Read. 258 pp., plans and
illustrations; obtainable from the author, 3 Bradiford, Barnstaple. £5.95 inc.
postage.

In these days of excessive printing costs, itis quite exceptional to find sucha
lengthy and comprehensive local history as Mrs, Reed’s work (though this is
inevitably reflected in the price). Almost every significant aspect of the past of
the parish is covered with a wealth of detail, and extensive transcripts of record
evidence are a marked feature. The record is continucus to the present century
and well balanced, tapics dealt with at length being the Domesday manors and
their later development; mediaeval foundations including the Priory, the
church, and the many chantries: charities and poor relief; housing, occupations,
and local industry; and communications and services.

Representative wills and inventories arc quoted from late mediaeval times
onwards, and a detailed description is given of all houses of significance
{including the remarkable Bull House which originated as the Prior’s residence).
Masses of interesting and vseful material have been drawn from manorial,
parish, and PRO sources, and one can well believe that the research toak ten
years.

This is the work of an ‘amateur’ in the best sense of that term, and in places
the general historical comments would have benefitted from proof-reading by a
professional. This would have removed some infelicites such as ‘mesolithic’ for
‘megalithic’, the idea that manorial feudalism and the liability of freemen to
military service were entirely Normaun innovations, that bordars ‘fed at the tord's
table’, and that the appropriation of tithes was a post-Reformation phenomenon
instead of originating in the grant of rectories to monastic houses. But fora work
of this length such misunderstandings are few, and in general the historical back-
ground is weil-taken and well-itustrated by the quoted material. This isin fact
a remarkable production, of outstanding value as a mine of local historical
information, and reflects great credit both on Mrs. Reed and on Mr. Reed who
financed its publication.

R.R.5.

EXETER — A CITY SAVED? Edited by R. Fortescue-Foulkes for Exeter
Civic Society, 1977.

This is a book to make you weep.

It tells a grim story of the destruction of so much that was fine and which
could so easily have been enhancing the quality of life in Exeter today. The
causes of this destruction have been various. The greatest single one was, of
course, the air raid of 1942 and perhaps there is nothing more to be said about
this than to deplore it as part of the barbaritics of war. What seems sa dreadful
is that as much destruction again has resulted from acts of commission and
omission all carried out for ostensibly defensible purposes.
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Ta take but one example, the exigencics of traffic have taken their toll down
the years. The turn of the 18th/ [9th centuries saw the destruction of some fine
city gates and adjacent houses for the reason that they impeded the traffic flow.
The influence of the motor car was exerted early and readers may be surprised to
learn that it was as early as 1921-24 that the charming area of Paul Street was
demolished to make way for a car park. One draws a veil over what is there now,
Why, one wonders, do the designers of shopping precincts seldom seem to think
of the view from outside as well as the interior?

The deterioration has by no means stopped. Of the nine subjects in the
“What is at risk’ section two remain derelict, one has visibly deteriorated and one
has disappeared completely. Al this among the few illustrative examples
possible in a book of this size. '

Fortunately all is not gloom. The Exeter Civic Socicty, who are respon-
sible for this book, are doing sterling work through their vigilante members and
council. It is very clear that every citizen who has a regard for his city should
buy this baok and then support the Socicty. But is this enough? The book brings
out a significant difference between the post-bombing history of St. Luke's
College and Bedford Circus. In the case of the former there was, in the Principal,
someone in a position of authority determined to preserve what was good and
did so, In the case of the latter this condition apparently did not obtaix, to
Exeter’s clernal loss. The moral is plain.

H.1Y.

PARLIAMENT IN ELIZABETHAN ENGLAND: John Hooker's ORDER
AND USAGE, Edited by Vernon F, Snow, New Haven and London, Yale U.P,,
1977 pp. xiv and 221 pp. frontispiece. £10.80. ISBN 0 300 02093 7.

John Hooker is aue of Exeter’s favourite sons. His work in city affairs and
his numerous antiquarian and topographical writings, published and unpub-
lished, are highly regarded. Hiis first-hand account of the Western Risingand the
siege of Exeter in 1549, tipped into the second edition of Holinshed’s Chronicle,
a life of his patron, Sir Peter Carew (first printed in 1840), the description of
Exeter (printed 1914}, all mark him out as a zealous local patriot. His assiduous
attention to his dubies as city chamberlair, whick involved him gratefully in the
organisation and preservation of municipal records and his service variously as
coroner, president of the orphans' court, and recorder confirm him as ‘a
dedicated and public-spirited Exonian’, But Hooker was more than that. As an
M.P. (including a spell in the 569 Irish parliament, of which he kept a diary,
the [irst of its kind) and through energy, intelligence and patronage he became
involved in national politics. This in turn led him to make major, though if
hitherto somewhat under-valued contributions to our knowledge of the parlia-
ments of Elizabeth I
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Interest in parliament as a working institution — its structure, procedure,
privileges, officials, its legislative achievements as distinct from its part in
constitutional conflict -~ has grown in recent years. Hooker in a variety of ways
provides us — in the words of Professor Vernon F. Snow who has edited his 1572
tractate, The Order and usage of the keeping of 2 Parliement in England — ‘with
an intelligent insider’s picture of parliament in mid-Elizabethan Engiand’, an
up-to-date one, whose injunctions were for a few decades adopted as the more or
less officia} basis for the conduct of Irish Houses of Commons. Dr. Snow’s
meticulous edition offers detailed accounts of Hooker's life and writings (the
best [ have read), an exact bibliographical essay, an analysis of the tractate’s
content and an assessment of its influence and significance that will put Hooker
in his rightful place alongside Henry Elsyng and William Hakewtill as a for-
mative reporter of parliamentary working and ways.

The Order and Usage does not only describe but points out deficiencies,
notably corrupt electoral practices and the return as M.P.s of ‘punie and rash
hedders’, often the immature scions and clients of magnates who treated con-
stituencies as private property. As an Exeter M. P. Hooker drew throughout not
on mere prejudice but experience. (Sir John Neale has confirmed in his classic
Elizabethan House of Commons a distike of ‘carpet-baggers’ as 2 common wesi-
country attitude.) But Hooker’s estimate of parliament was fundamentally a
laudatory one, reinforced by his view, much shared by sixteenth and seventeenth
century parliamentarians, that the inststution ante-dated the Conquest and that
it was quite unique among European nations. Besides his own tractate Hooker
brought out in 1572 a translation of that ‘olde and ancient Lattin Record’, the
Modus Tenendi Parlismentuom. Professor Snow notes in regard to Hooker's
commentary, which elevates myth into history, that contemporsary Devonians
were ‘particularly suscepiible to ancient legends’, believing that Brute, founder’
of Britain, landed not in the South-East but somewhere in Devon, not far from
Totnes, and that Athelstan promulgated his laws not at Westminster but at
Exeter.

Hooker contributed to the concept of parliament as a court, in his own
words ‘the hiest, cheefest and greatest court that is or can be within the realm’,
and equally to the notion of parliament as a representative institution based an
three estates. Out ‘of all this would emerge the theory of mixed monarchy. Thus
concludes Professor Snow, ‘thus did the political tenets of the Elizabethan
antiquary remain 4 living part of the English constitution fong after he was laid
ta rest in his beloved Exeter’. Not a bad epitaph, and once again students of
Tudor-Stuart England, in both its national and its local dimensions, have cause
to be grateful to an American historian and an American university press.

Ivan Roots
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MONMOUTH'S REBELS: THE ROAD TO SEDGEMOOR 1685 by Peter
Earle. Wetdenfeld and Nicelson. 1977, pp. x [ and 236, Maps and itlustrations.
ISBN ) 207 77884 4.

Monmouth's Rebellion is a popular theme. A new study appears every
dozen years or so, the last, by Charles Chevenix Trench, The Western Rising, in
1969. Dr. Peter Earle, who has previcusly written well on Defoe and James 11,
sets out not to celebrate or denigrate the Bastard King himself, who in his view
was ‘chosen as a leader because he was available.. .and not because he was the
Puke of Monmouth’, but to find out maore about the sort of men wha foliowed
him — the rehels. *A rebellion is nothing without rebels -— you cannot have an
army solely of commanders ~- but since most rebellions fail and their story is
related mainly by the victors, it is hard to find out much that is positive about
revolting rank and file. Little documentary evidence in their_own hands
survives, a decided deficicuey, but one Dr. Earle turns almost into an asset.
Instead of merely mulling over the same old stuff, asking the same old questions
and getting much the same old answers - though to be reasonably comprehen-
sive he has had to do some of that - he struggles with the sort of material used
by demographic historians to draw what he calls ‘a profile of the rebels of 1685,
His sources include the so-called Monmouth Roll, compiled from lists of rebets,
suspected or actual, drawn up by parish constables to present to the Grand

Juries of Devon, Dorset and Sofmerset; the Compton ecclesiastical census of

1676 and the Protestation returns of 1641 — which help to establish the relative
size of population in various places. He also uses parish registers including
almost inevitabty those of Colyton, which must by now be regarded as Devon’s
grealest gift to demographers. Looking at once critically and imaginatively at
these matenals among others Dr. Earle concludes that ‘the Monmouth episode’
(in Bryan Little’s disparaging phrasc of 1956) was basically net a peasant butan
urban rising, its adherents mostly shopkeepers and artisans, notably cloth-
workers, with very few from *the class of general labourers’. This helps to expiain
why the government with the approval of the governing classes were scared into
the violent revenge of Jeffrey’s ‘campaign in the west”. Their victims were not
bumpkins, not a mindless mob. but men of some self-confidence, spurred by
religious enthusiasm, capable of articulating socio-political ideas and ideals.
Here was a genuine threat to the existing order, a danger symbolised in the sca-
green colours of the never -~ quite — forgotten levellers reputed to be worn by
some rebels. The Whigs showed a wily appreciation of that by helding aloof in
1685 from both the feckless Duke and from his alarming army. In 1699 the
case was altered. James H was got rid of by the right kind of people with
the right sort of programme, one that ran no risks of social change and spoke not
of liberty but liberties - or privileges. Revolution in 1688 was ‘gloricus’
precisely because 1t was conservative, respectable and syceessful,

Dr. Earle has written his scholarly and persuasive survey of “this last purely
English rebellion’ very properly in the perspective of national history, But the
reader whost interest is bounded by the horizons of the south west will certainly
find plenty here to stimulate and satisty his provincial ardour.

Ivan Roots
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TUDOR EXETER: TAX ASSESSMENTS 14891395 INCLUDING THE
MILETARY SURVEY 1522 edited by Margery M. Rowe. Devon and Carnwall
Record Saciety, new series, vol. 22, 1977, xix + 106 pp. (annual subscription £2),

In 1957 the Devon and Cornwalli Record Society published a volume
entitled Exeter in the seventeenth century: tax and rate assessnienits 1642-1699,
edited by Professar W.G. Hoskins. At that time he also sefected eight documents
from the surviving taxation records relating to Tudor Exeter - the tenth of
1489, the military survey of 1522 and the subsidies of 1324/ 5, 1544, {557/8. 1577,
1386 and 1593/5 — for a companion volume. The subsidies of the 15245 and
1544 are in the Public Record Office; the others arc in the Devon Record Office,
Castle Street, Exeter. To these records, which she has impeccably transcribed,
Margery Rowe, the Devonarchivist, has ably contributed an introduction which
draws attention both to their usefuiness and limitations. These taxation returns,
to guote her own words, ‘are of use to the cconomic historian for a comparative
study of different towns and regions, and also to the geneatogist, for the fullest of
these returns, the Military Survey or Muster of 1522, antedates the carliest
parish registers by at least sixteen years. All except the first document in this
volume, the “Tenth™ of 1489, ure arranged by parish, and therefore give infor-
mation on the mobility of population into and within the City during the
sixteenth century, a time of economic € xpansion for Exeter . The Exeter roll of
the tenth of 1489, 2 combination ol the medieval littcenth and tenth. was an
extra tax on land and income and provides information about 4 fair properiion
of the city’s wealthier inhabitants, Of the military survey of 1522, unly two
returns survive, that for Coventry and that for Exeter (which is the most sub-
stantiat document printed in this volume}. Recorded by parish, ‘the names are
usually divided into bowmen, billmen, aliens, those not {1t to serve in a war,
those living outside the parish but having lands within it and those living in the
parish who presumably did not fall within the first four categories. A few women
are listed, u special section in St. Kerrien's parish being reserved for “Widows
and their substance™ and the name of any servant usualily follows that ol the
householder. [ all there are 1363 entries in this survey aad this must represent a
large proportion of Exeter’s population in 1522, the anly obvious exclusions
being children under sixtecn years of age and the wives of householders or
widowed mothers living with themt. The Military Survey of 1522 is thus an
extremely valuable record, not least because it includes a great many people
{thirty-six per cent) assessed at "nil”, for this poorelement of the poputation was
for the most part ignored by other sixteenth century tax assessments.... The
document also throws light on the pattern of land ownership in the City and the
relative size of population and wealth in the parishes Hsted'. The other subsidy
lists are tess full but they suggest that the taxable population was on the move
and that merchants were beginning ta shift to the suburbs. Together, these lists
also provide information abowt the number of aliens living in Exeter and they
suggest that the wealth of Exeter was concentrated in the hands of about six per
cent of the population while grinding poverty was the lot of the poorer fifty per
cent. The volume contains two appendices: an abstract of appeals against
assessment endorsed on the 1524 subsidy and a note on the starting dates of
Excter parish registers by Hugh Peskett. All in alll therefore, Mrs. Rowe has
produced a valuable coliection of source material for the study of the history of
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PEOPLE TALKING: | MISCELLANEOLUS I0p; 2 CHARACTERS OF
EXETER 10p; 3 CHRISTMAS MEMORIES AND NEWTOWN (0p; 4 THFE
WEST QUARTER 12p; 5 CARNIVALS [2p;: 6 WORKING CHILDHOQODS
IN WATERBEEAR AND PRESTON STREETS 12p; 7 ST. SIDWELLS
BEFORE 1945 25p; by Jenny Lloyd. (7 parts so far published, obtainable from
Castle Bookshop, Gandy Street, Exeter).

What an eminently worthwhile historical effort Jenny Lloyd lias become
involved in. By recording the ‘groundlings” who peopled Exeter in the first half
of this century, she has given voice to a majority who are rarely if ever heard.
They are rather Hike those pioneers who form the backcloth to Western films and
who trundle across the screen in their covered wagons and poke-bonetts, as mute
historical cyphers. While Mrs, Lloyd would not claim for her transribed
recordings the value of the fiftcenth-ceatury Paston Letters, who would deny
that in 500 years time they night oot have a similar historical value. She can
certainly claim to be Exeter’s equivalent of London's Henry Mayhew.

Jenny Licyd has said of her work that: ‘it is oral history based on memory,
not research’ - but what history i$ not based on memory of somé sort — even
before historical interpretation gets to work onit. Tape-recorded material hasan
innate marality of its own, as Watergate has demonstrated. [f, too, the editors
of recorded tape material can be taken to task for wielding the razor blade to
achieve their finished result, it compares not at all with the written work of
serious intent, where revision can follow revision and rewrite follow rewrite
to achieve the purpose of the writer. [isequivalent in the recording medium is the
‘straight piece’ swhere the presenter of the material has cleaned it up, rationalised
it and packaged it as neatly as possible within the confines of a time limit. An
original recarding, whether it is actually — events as they are happening — ot
events as they are remembered, has a quality that the written word can never
match. Not only is the question as posed usually present in the eliciting of
recorded material but also the manner of asking and the manner of reply, an
elernent that is not present in the written account. This is where 1 would suggest
that Jenny Lloyd has perhaps devalued her work by using her tape recorder only
as an amanuensis. [t may be, of course, that Mrs. Lioyd has retained her source
material on tape and this, | would suggest, is the most valuable part of her
project. Not merely what the man or women said but the manaer of saying is
surely of equal importance with conteat.

Jenny [loyd has, no doubt for valid reasons, excised herself and her
questions from her written transeriptions but by so doing she has made the
procedure something of a one-legged exercise in which information seems to be
the result of 2 deus ex machina rather than a fellow human. This treatment has
meant, too, that her material has a rather telegraphic quality, certainly in the
earlier volumes of reminiscences. Gobbets put together as o montage on tape
can have an entity and interest when clothed with the cadences of specch - they
can be too skeletai when expressed as single disjointed sentences in print, There
needs to be some minimal unit of continuty if the material is not to degencrale
into unrelated phrases and words. It is because the unit of reminiscence is of
greater length in Velume 7 that I like it best of those that arrived for review.
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Mrs. Chifton's remembzrances of *A St. Sidwell's childhood’ convey not only the
sights and sounds of her times but its ambience as well. The measure of the
success of this and other pieces is such 1hat { am motivated not only to hear the
words clothed in speech but also to pose some questions of my own.

I have commended Jenny Lloyd for troubling with the "groundlings’ of
Exeter, can | suggest that she extends her brief to record and transcribe the
memories and impressions of ordinary people when involved with extra-
ordinary people and events — though to give her her due she dees record
memorics associated with the Blitz on Exeter. Virtnally on the City's doorstep,
and certainly closely associated with it, is the enigma of General Buller -
perhaps the worst General the British Army has ever produced and yet also the
most kindly remembered by all who served under him. A fairly extensive reading
of Boer War material — including Byron Farwell’s recent monumental and
authoritative work The Great Boer War - gives no real clue as to why Buller
was so affectionately regarded by his soldiers and his fellow Devonians. Only
when [ recorded an account of a soldier in the Devons who served under Buller
at the battle of Colenso did I begin to understand the reason for that affection.
Gailoping up to where the Devons were under fire Buller ordered their Colonel
to ' “Get thos men under cover ™ — that’s why Buller didn’t win battles — he
looked after us too well, Buller a deal old soul’. If these words illuminate even
when there is no breath in them, how much more sodo they when 1 play back the
recording and there js breath in them. Those histortans who claim that history
at this levet is of little importance and merely a collection of minutiae should be
asked the questions whether history is what actually happened to the people
wha were directly involved or what the historians said happened - inevitably
a process of rationalisation, compression and subjective judgement. Where then
can anything approaching an absolute historical truth lic, especially if we bear
in mind Macaulay’s aphorism — to set historians raging - that “The only true
history of a cauntry is to be found in its newspapers’. Surely the best that canbe
hoped for is a balanced historial judgement from the academic historian,
teavened, where possible, by a conception of history as understood by the
ordinary people involved at the time — because history 15 what people thought
happened and not necessarily what did, The raw material for such history can
best be gleaned and gathered in the way that Jenny Lloyd has demonstrated on
the small scale. She should now enlarge the range of her historical operation. If
anyone knows where there are survivors with first-hand information about
Bulier’s charisma, then if Jenny Eloyd doegsn’t want to know, I certainly do.

Loca! historians in the future, especially social historians, will I am sure,
have reason to be grateful to Jenny Lloyd for her foresight in getting People
Talking. What she has done is 1o rescue materiat that is every day going to the
grave and historians are in her debt.

To those who remain sceptical of the vatue of such recorded oral history I
would ask them to remember the many theses that have stemmed from an inter-
pretation of such historical mutes asa Roman cein or part of a mediaeval eather
sandal. Just think of the feat that even the most nacrow-minded conventional
historian would make of a few recorded phrases of a Caesar or a mediaeval
Exeter cordwainer. Jenny Lloyd has shown a way - all power to here¢lbowand
her tape recovder.

39 Joe Pengelly








